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Governance and Management 
 
Constitution 
 
The Council for British Research in the Levant (“CBRL”) is a charity registered in England and Wales 
(Number 1073015). It is also a Company registered under the Companies Act 2006 (Number 3566646). 
The CBRL is governed by its Memorandum and Articles of Association supplemented by Bylaws. 
 
Corporate Governance  
 
Management of the CBRL is vested in a Committee of Management which consists of not fewer than five 
members elected by the CBRL membership to the Committee in addition to those serving by virtue of their 
office. These are the President, the Chairman, the Honorary Secretary, and Honorary Treasurer are elected 
by the membership on an annual basis. The Honorary Research Chair and Honorary Publications Chair are 
no longer required to be Trustees. All members of the Committee must be CBRL members. The Committee 
of Management is the CBRL’s Board of Trustees and its members (other than the President) are the Trustees 
of the CBRL. Trustees serve for a maximum period of four consecutive years. 
 
On election Trustees are given a copy of the Memorandum and Articles of Association, a copy of the Bylaws 
and CBRL procedural documentation. They are offered guidance on the role and responsibilities of trustees 
of registered charities. Trustees are kept up-to-date and aware of any ongoing issues through quarterly 
meetings of the Committee of Management in London, scheduled meetings of the sub-committees, and 
where necessary on an ad hoc basis via email or telephone, as appropriate. 
 
The Committee of Management is supported by the specialist sub-committees whose membership is 
supplemented by members of staff and where required by additional co-opted members: 
 

• Finance and Governance: P Sucher (chair), James Watt, and until December 2019, Dr A Bellem, V 
Morgan, and Professor G Phillip; and after December 2019, Dr G Tsourapas, T Thomson and Dr E 
Weizman.  

• Research: Dr Louise Martin (chair until December 2019), Dr Sossie Kasbarian (external assessor), 
Dr M Jones (chair after December 2019), Dr A Bellem (until December 2019), Dr M Darwich, and Dr 
G Tsourapas (after December 2019).  

• Publications: Dr J Clarke (chair, Hon Editor Monographs), Prof G Philip (Levant Editor, ex-officio after 
December 2019), Dr Sarah Irving (Contemporary Levant Editor, ex-officio), C Middleton (co-opted 
ex-officio).  
 

Each sub-committee has its own terms of reference as set out in the CBRL Corporate Plan and their reports 
are standing agenda items for the Committee of Management. Ad-hoc appointments panels are set up to 
appoint new members of staff. Ad-hoc working groups are set up for time-limited issues of strategic 
importance.  
 
The Committee of Management is responsible for considering and approving all the recommendations of its 
sub-committees and developing the overall strategy and direction of the CBRL. 
 
The day-to-day management of the CBRL is delegated to the Directors of the overseas Institutes and the UK 
Executive Officer, with the former responsible for local operations and staff at their respective Institutes. Both 
Institute Directors are active researchers in addition to their administrative and operational responsibilities.   
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Remuneration policy 
 
The governing principles of the Charity’s draft remuneration policy are as follows: 

• To ensure delivery of the Charity’s objectives 

• To attract and retain a motivated workforce with the skills and expertise necessary for organisational 

effectiveness 

• That remuneration should be equitable and coherent across the organisation, while recognizing the 

complexities of employing staff in several countries 

• To take account of the purposes, aims and values of the Charity 

• To ensure that pay levels and pay increases are appropriate in the context of the interests of our 

beneficiaries. 

 
Senior Executive Remuneration 
 
In relation to deciding remuneration for the Charity’s senior executives, the Charity considers the potential 
impact of remuneration levels and structures of senior executives on the wider Charity workforce and will 
take account of the following additional principles: 

• To ensure that the Charity can access the types of skills, experiences and competencies that it needs 

in its senior staff, the specific scope of these roles in the Charity and the link to pay 

• The nature of the wider employment offer made to senior employees, where pay is one part of a 

package that includes personal and career development, personal fulfilment and association with the 

public benefit delivered. The Charity recognises that it is, on occasion, possible to attract senior 

executives at a discount to public sector or private sector market rates. 

 
In line with the recommendations of the NCVO Inquiry into Executive Remuneration published in April 2014, 
the Charity has decided to disclose the remuneration of the Executive Team, which for 2019–20 comprised 
the Directors of the overseas Institutes and the UK Executive Officer. 
 
Remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2020 comprised salary and pension contributions. There are no 
other pecuniary benefits for senior or other staff at the Charity. 
 
Risks 
 
The Board has accepted the wider responsibilities in the revised Statement of Recommended Practice 
‘Accounting and Reporting by Charities’ issued by the Charity Commission in October 2000 as updated by 
SORP 2015. The Finance and Governance sub-committee reviews management and financial procedures 
to ensure the identification of major risks to which the CBRL may be exposed and to ensure appropriate 
systems are in place to mitigate them. Responsibility for reviewing and updating the CBRL Risk Register is 
delegated to the Risk Officer role held by a member of the Committee of Management. 
 
Risks to our activities arise from regional instability and the potential impact on the security of our Institutes, 
staff, and visiting researchers. CBRL cannot replace the risk assessments undertaken within UK HEIs nor 
accept responsibility for visiting researchers and students, but CBRL works to minimise risks to staff and 
visitors. Accordingly, we have procedures to ensure that researchers visiting our two overseas Institutes have 
undertaken their own risk assessments.  
 
The operation of our Institutes is reliant on relevant permissions from authorities in the territories in which 
they are situated.  Foreign NGOs are increasingly subject to regulation and greater scrutiny throughout the 
Middle East, where CBRL maintains two Institutes, in East Jerusalem and Jordan. CBRL mitigates these 
risks through demonstrating benefit to the local community and researchers (e.g. the Institute libraries and 
through partnerships on research projects) and through building strong relationships with all relevant 
stakeholders. 
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The other significant risk faced by CBRL is in respect of future funding. Our British Academy grant was for 
the period to March 2020, subject to normal review conditions. From March 2020 no annual allocation was 
made, and disbursement was on a monthly basis, until in June the British Academy notified CBRL informally 
that the annual allocation for 2020-21 would be on the basis of flat cash plus 1.5%. CBRL is currently 
increasing its efforts to raise funds through a wide variety of means, to reduce dependence on the British 
Academy grant.  
  
Objectives and Activities for the Public Benefit 
 
The CBRL is established to advance public education through conducting, supporting and promoting 
scholarly research in the humanities, social sciences, and related subject areas in the Levant, and the 
dissemination of the useful results of such research. As an academic hub, CBRL connects UK academia to 
the Levant. The Trustees confirm that they have taken due regard of the guidance from the Charity 
Commission on public benefit when reviewing the CBRL’s achievements and plans. The CBRL Research 
Strategy and lists of current and recent awards can be viewed on the CBRL website (www.cbrl.ac.uk) which 
also lists forthcoming and previous events. 
 
The Trustees have complied with the duty in section 17 of the Charities Act 2011 to have due regard to the 
public benefit guidance published by the Charity Commission. The Trustees draw attention to the 
membership services detailed on www.cbrl.ac.uk (provision of accommodation, research equipment, library 
services, laboratory space and reference collections), to the provision of grants and scholarships, and public 
lectures, academic workshops and other related events. The CBRL Library, with its stations in both institutes 
and combined catalogue, up until the public health measures taken in response to the Covid-19 pandemic in 
East Jerusalem and Jordan in March 2020, continued to be open to members of the public, with e-resources 
provided free of charge (via www.cbrl.ac.uk). CBRL journal publications have open-access policies, although 
these are dependent on funding being arranged by authors of papers. CBRL monographs are currently being 
placed on an open access site (the Archaeological Data Service) within three years of publication. New 
volumes will now be placed directly on-line as open access. 
 
Achievements and Performance 
 
The CBRL achieves its objectives for the public benefit through a programme of conducting, sponsoring and 
facilitating research and its dissemination through its in-house publications (Levant, Contemporary Levant, 
the CBRL Bulletin, and monographs), through its website, through supporting publication in other outlets, by 
organising academic meetings and public lectures, and through the presentation of lectures on research by 
staff members. The CBRL Bulletin serves as a journal of record, with reports on all sponsored research, and 
the website provides ongoing information in research and activities.  
 
We continue to disseminate a wide range of research through our journals Levant and Contemporary Levant 
published on-line and in print.  Levant continues to be ranked in the top quartile of all archaeological journals 
worldwide. During the period of this report, 19-20, Levant received 37 submissions of which 13 were accepted 
(in some cases subject to revision) and 24 were rejected. 2019 marked the 51st year of the publication of 
Levant; however, it is currently working to catch up on a backlog of printed issues (after publication online) 
with Levant Vol. 50, Issues 2+3 published in 2019. Vol. 51 (2019) issue 1 appeared in June 2020, with the 
large special issue 51: 2-3 due to appear by the end of summer 2020. CBRL will appoint a new Editor of 
Levant to begin in January 2021, taking over from Dr Graham Philip, Editor since 2008.  
 
To mark the centenary of our founding institute, the 2019 (Vol. 4, issue 1) special issue of Contemporary 
Levant, took a critical look at the British Mandate period: The British Mandate in Palestine: new histories, new 
agents and re-framing old paradigms and was guest edited by both CBRL centennial grant and travel grant 
awardees. The winning Contemporary Levant article prize in 2019 was: Prejudice, military intelligence, and 
neoliberalism: Examining the local within archaeology and heritage practices in Jordan co-authored by 
Shatha Abu-Khafajah (Hashemite University) and Riham Miqdadi (United Arab Emirates University) 
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published in Vol. 4, issue 2. Dr Michelle Obeid (University of Manchester) stepped down as Contemporary 
Levant Editor in October 2019 and was replaced as Editor by Dr Sarah Irving (Edge Hill University). 
 
Our other publishing activity, archaeological monographs, continues to experience lower take up. This is 
likely to be the ongoing effect of the move to digital publishing, and of people still wishing to see their books 
in hard copy as offered by other publishers. The challenges of Open Access will, however, continue to place 
pressure on the ‘publisher pays’ model so that in the next few years online open access digital monographs 
may be the principal method of publishing archaeological monographs.  
 
CBRL’s Communications, Development and Programme Manager (formerly, Development Officer) has 

continued to build CBRL’s multi-channel communications strategy, creating original content to showcase the 

organisation’s work and disseminate research findings on the Levant. Proactively raising the organisation’s 

profile to scholars and a general public audience has continued to be an important activity, including initiating 

prize schemes for undergraduate and master’s dissertations. Over the past twelve months CBRL’s 

programme of public engagement events has been further expanded and all physical events are now held in 

partnership with key university departments. This role continues to work across all aspects of the organisation 

including research and publications, feeding into strategy and planning discussions to assist CBRL’s directors 

in identifying fundraising priorities to enable fundraising activity to progress.  

 
To mark the centenary of CBRL’s founding institute, the British School of Archaeology in Jerusalem, in 2019 

CBRL organised a series of public events that looked at British archaeological exploration in the Levant since 

1919, as well as critically reviewing the legacy of Britain's historical presence in the region. A number of these 

events were given by CBRL centennial award holders to share their research findings and in May 2019 CBRL 

held a day of events that looked specifically at the important but little known ‘King Crane Commission of 

1919.’ In collaboration with the London Middle East Institute at SOAS, this took the form of a very successful 

afternoon academic workshop chaired by Professor Dawn Chatty (University of Oxford) including talks from 

four pre-eminent scholars on this subject (Dr Andrew Patrick, Tennessee State University; Dr Lori Allen, 

SOAS University of London; Dr Lauren Banko, Yale; and James Barr, historian and writer), followed by an 

evening public lecture by the world-leading expert on the subject, Dr Andrew Patrick. 

 
2019-20 was a year of transitions for CBRL’s East Jerusalem branch, the Kenyon Institute. After seven years 
in her post as Director, Dr Mandy Turner announced her resignation in summer 2019, and retired by year’s 
end to take up a professorship at the University of Manchester. On sabbatical since October 2018 until 
September 2019, Dr Turner was covered for most of the year by Deputy/Acting Director Dr Toufic Haddad 
who oversaw finalisation of hostel bathroom and renovation works. The Kenyon librarian Hussein Gheith 
(Abu Hani) also ‘hung up his hat’ after 17 years of service, retiring at the end March 2020. The year still 
witnessed a lively series of events and engagement with researchers and cultural bodies, including a number 
held in the Kenyon garden which drew several hundred persons. Some noticeable research outputs of the 
year included the final book publication of a 25-year study of the Oslo process sponsored by the British 
Academy (edited by Dr Turner), and the organisation of a panel of scholars at a British Academy international 
conference on International Politics of Middle East Migration, by Acting Director Haddad. Despite brewing 
local political tensions and the closure of the hostel for two months (due to Covid-19 and renovation works), 
the hostel was still able to modestly increase revenue (13%) from the previous year. Dr Haddad became 
Director of CBRL’s Kenyon Institute in January 2020, and concurrently Deputy Director of CBRL. 
 
During 2019-20, CBRL’s British Institute in Amman (BIA) team partnered on four Newton-Khalidi AHRC 
Cultural Heritage and Sustainable Development projects, as well as a British Council Cultural Protection Fund 
DCMS award. The majority of project-related activities, including the recruitment and involvement of project 
staff, were with the projects: ‘Our Past, Our Future: All together in Faynan’ (OPOF) to develop Faynan 
Museum as a community hub with the University of Reading; ‘Mapping Digital Heritage in Jordan’ (MaDiH) 
to harness digital technologies in the management and protection of cultural heritage with King’s College 
London and the Hashemite University; and the ‘Cultural Corridors of Peace’ Project to organise a Regional 
Bedouin Gathering in Jordan and to promote the living memory of Bedouin from the Levant with the Inherit 
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Institute of York Archaeological Trust, the American University of Beirut and Coventry University. The 
Regional Bedouin Gathering with Bedouin representatives from Lebanon, Palestine and Jordan took place 
in Wadi Rum in October 2019 under the kind patronage of the BIA’s long-term patron, HRH Prince Al Hassan 
bin Talal. An exhibition resulting from the same project, No Future without Past, was held in London in 
January 2020. Also in January, the British Academy-CBRL Knowledge Frontiers Symposium on ‘Belonging’ 
was held in Amman with the aim of fostering research collaborations between early career scholars from the 
Levant and the UK. In February 2020, the BIA’s work in Faynan expanded to include the new project 
‘Archaeology to Business in Faynan’ (ABIF) to create a small business for local Bedouin women in partnership 
with Reading University. In addition, BIA continued to host a range of scholars and to organise events, 
including a lecture to launch the MaDiH project in Jordan dedicated to the memory of Dr Andrea Zerbini, 
former Assistant Director who sadly passed away after a short illness in July 2019. CBRL’s Director in 
Amman, Dr Carol Palmer, formally took on the role of CBRL Director in January 2020, in addition to her role 
as Director of CBRL’s Amman Institute. 
 
The team in CBRL’s London office was joined in June 2019 by a new part-time Outreach and Administrative 
Co-ordinator as part of broader collaboration between the British International Research Institutes (BIRIs) 
affiliated with the British Academy. In December 2019, CBRL’s Executive Officer left after almost three years 
of dedicated service and a Finance Officer was appointed to oversee CBRL’s financial management. 
 
Future plans 
 
The Trustees and Directors of the Institutes have made significant progress in formulating a new strategy 
designed to refresh and renew its mission of supporting and disseminating research on the Levant on a 
sustainable basis.  It recognises the changing environment in terms of funding sources, researchers’ needs 
and priorities, and the relevance of our activities to the countries of the Levant.  The new strategy is expected 
to be endorsed formally in September 2020.  
 
CBRL aims to: 

• Broaden our sources of funds and reduce reliance on our core grant from the British Academy; 

• Recognise the changing needs of UK researchers and the territories in which we operate; and 

• Position to support an increase in research activities in the northern Levant as current conflicts allow. 
 

Our activities to support these objectives include: 

• Reviewing and modernizing our governance structure; 

• Implementing plans to reposition our Institutes to support current academic needs; 

• Involvement in major research programmes where CBRL can add value; and 

• Improving our communications and outreach to evidence our impact and raise profile. 
 
Impact of Covid-19 
 
The direct financial impact of the lockdown measures arising from the Covid-19 pandemic has been limited 
so far to the loss of income from the hostels run by the Institutes in East Jerusalem and Amman, starting in 
mid-March 2020. At the time of writing, it is not clear when these hostels can re-open, depending both on the 
public health policies of the authorities in those places, and on CBRL's assessment of the risk to staff, 
operations and reputation should cases arise on the premises concerned, which also house the offices and 
other facilities of the two Institutes. 
 
A minority of CBRL sponsored researchers have been unable to complete their fieldwork 19-20, awaiting the 
lifting of travel restrictions. Travel restrictions are likely to continue in 20-21 and the situation remains under 
review. CBRL has been expanding the availability of online resources and activities in response. 
 
The awareness of the likely onset of the pandemic from January/February 2020 delayed progress on some 
restricted fund activities supported by the BA’s Business Development Fund, alongside staffing changes, 
which are moved to 20-21. 
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Grants Policy 
 
CBRL awards funds and other forms of research support following the procedures set out in the CBRL Manual 
for Research Support and corresponding to the overall strategy review for CBRL referred to above. The CBRL 
Fellowships schemes offer Post-Doctoral Fellowships to applicants within seven years of completing a PhD, 
and Visiting Research Fellowships to established researchers, normally holding a university position. Post-
Doctoral Fellowships are for 3 or 6-month periods and Visiting Research Fellowships are for 1-, 2- or 3-month 
periods. Pilot Study awards are available to help researchers undertaking initial exploratory work or a 
feasibility study with a view to preparing a later application for major funding from a Research Council or the 
British Academy or similar. CBRL also offers Team-based fieldwork research awards, designed to support 
team-based research over one, two or three years. In addition, CBRL is able to fund a series of annual Travel 
Grants, up to a maximum award of £800, for research in the countries of the Levant. The travel grants 
available to PhD researchers are funded by our generous members and supporters through our Travel Grants 
Fund, as the specific terms do not allow us to support PhD work from our BA grant. 
 
Applications for funding of research projects in the Levant are sought through advertising in academic and 
research institutions and the Internet. Applicants are invited to submit their proposals in a specific format. 
The applications are reviewed on their academic merit through a stringent process of peer review by 
appropriate experts including those who are not associated with CBRL. Final selection is made by the CBRL 
Research sub-committee. Ethnicity, gender, age, disability, sexual orientation, religion, and personal financial 
circumstances are not taken into account. Projects are funded and monitored on an annual basis, although 
the team and field-based programmes have been funded on a 2- or 3-year basis. 
 
Project affiliation for academic research in the countries of the Levant is available to post-doctoral 
researchers. The Project Affiliation programme offers institutional support only and no direct funding is 
awarded. CBRL affiliated projects are eligible to receive help with obtaining excavation or survey licences, or 
to develop and enhance collaboration with projects run by institutions from the host countries.   
 
The charity requests a research report from all funded individuals and projects which are made publicly 
available via the annual CBRL Bulletin, public lectures, blogs and podcasts, facilitated by the CBRL 
Development Officer, in addition to scholarly publications arising from the CBRL-supported research.  

 
Fundraising policy 
 
We receive most of our funds in the form of restricted (project) or unrestricted (general) grant support from 
institutional funders, primarily a grant-in-aid from the British Academy, together with some charitable trusts 
and foundations, and grant income for academic projects.  We raise donations from our members to fund 
Travel Grants and from institutional donors for major projects, fellowships and conference sponsorship.   
 
CBRL does not employ third party fundraisers and does not raise funds from the general public.  All our staff 
follow the Code of Fundraising Practice as outlined by the UK’s Fundraising Regulator.  During the year there 
were no complaints about fundraising.   
  
 
Financial Review 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out in the notes 
to the financial statements and comply with the governing document, the Companies Act 2006 and 
Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities 
preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (the "Charities SORP").  
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The British Academy grant covered the period to 31 March 2020, subject to normal annual reviews, and our 
main core grant has reduced by 15% from 2016 to 2020. The Business Development Fund (“BDF”) is 
available to be used to help develop CBRL’s long-term financial sustainability and is subject to separate 
annual bids to the British Academy. Both aspects of the grant will be under review in the Department for 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy’s (BEIS) next comprehensive spending review, which was first 
brought forward to 2019, but then postponed indefinitely in view of the uncertainty over the Brexit timetable, 
and then postponed once more in the circumstances of the Covid-19 pandemic.  It may take place in the 
autumn of 2020.  In line with its evolving strategy, CBRL continues to develop initiatives to raise an increasing 
proportion of its funds from non-BEIS sources and to seek to raise its free reserves to make it both less 
dependent on a single funding source and more resilient to swings in forward planning. This has led to 
restructuring and a cautious approach to expenditure and given the ongoing climate of uncertainty this 
approach will continue. 
 
A significant part of CBRL's funding in 2019-20 continued to come from BEIS via the British Academy, both 
in the form of our core grant (£544,366) including the release of contingency funds (£27,122) and as BDF 
funds (£154,354) for specific development projects. Other grants were kindly provided for our library in 
Jerusalem by The Barakat and Al Tajir Trust funds (£16,000). Income from members’ use of our facilities and 
our services to academic projects are an additional important source (£59,680), with membership fees 
(£11,187) and publications (£18,242) in addition to other smaller sources of income. The CBRL’s membership 
also made an important contribution to support travel grants in 2019-20 of £1,421.  
 
The overall result for the year is a surplus on the general fund of £70,390, as a result of reduced core costs 
due to changes in staffing during the year. Our ongoing financial planning strategy is to minimise risk through 
matching our permanent cost base to the core grant, while growing our activities on the basis of income 
generation from other sources including involvement as principal or partner in other grant-funded initiatives 
and fundraising for specific purposes such as major projects, fellowships and conference sponsorship. 
 
Reserves Policy 
 
Charity Commission guidance defines free reserves as "income which becomes available to the charity and 
is to be expended at the trustees' discretion in furtherance of any of the charity's objects, but is not yet spent, 
committed or designated".   
 
The Trustees have examined the needs and challenges faced by the Charity in both the short and medium 
term, along with relevant financial forecasts, and have formulated a policy to meet those needs. 
 
The existing free reserve policy set by the Trustees is a level where at least the equivalent of four months of 
normal expenditure is maintained, recognizing that some of the potential risks to our operation may cause a 
significant loss of local income streams. On the basis of expenditure that is planned for 2020-21, this policy 
would require free reserves in the order of £200,000. 
 
 
At the balance sheet date, free reserves comprised the following: 
 
                         2020 
                               £  
Total funds per Balance Sheet           604,117 
 
Deduct: 
Restricted Funds  (Note 9)            317,236 
Designated Funds  (Note 9)              32,708 
Fixed Assets held for charity use  (Note 5)           2,646 
                              
 
Free Reserves at 31 March 2020          251,527 
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The trustees will assess this policy on an ongoing basis. 
Trustee Responsibilities in relation to the Financial Statements 
 
The trustees (who are also directors of the Council for British Research in the Levant for the purposes of 
company law) are responsible for preparing the Trustees’ Report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice.) 
 
Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true 
and fair view of the state of the affairs of the charitable company and of its income and expenditure for that 
period.  In preparing these financial statements, the trustees are required to: 
 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• observe the methods and principles the Charities SORP; 

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether applicable accounting standards, including FRS 102, have been followed, subject to 
any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;  

• state whether a Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) applies and has been followed, 
subject to any material departures which are explained in the financial statements 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the charitable company will continue in business. 

 
The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the charitable company and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of 
the charitable company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities. 

 
None of the Trustees had any beneficial interest in any contract to which the company was party during the 
year. 
 
Each of the Trustees has confirmed that so far as he is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 
the company's auditors are unaware, and that he has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a 
Trustee in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's 
auditors are aware of that information. 
 

 
This report also represents the directors report as required by company law. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Part 15 of the 
Companies Act 2006 relating to small companies and with the Financial Reporting Standard 102. 
 
Signed on behalf of the Council by: 
 
 
 
 
Trustee:  Dr Gerasimos Tsourapas (Acting Honorary Treasurer)  Trustee:  James Watt (Chairman) 
 
Date:                    Date: 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL FOR BRITISH 
RESEARCH IN THE LEVANT 

 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of The Council For British Research in the Levant (the 
‘charitable company’) for the year ended 31 March 2020 which comprise the Statement of Financial 
Activities, Balance Sheet, Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements: 
 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the charitable company’s affairs as at 31 March 2020 and 
of its incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for 
the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
charitable company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us 
to report to you where: 
 

• the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or  

• the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties 
that may cast significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue. 

 
Other information  
 
The trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In 
connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we 
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the 
other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.  
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
 

• the information given in the trustees’ report, which includes the directors’ report prepared for 
company law purposes, for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the financial statements; and 

• the directors’ report included within the trustees’ report has been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements. 

 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the charitable company and its environment obtained 
in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the trustees’ report. 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 
 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not 
been received from branches not visited by us; or 

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

• certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 

• the trustees’ were not entitled to take advantage of the small companies’ exemptions in preparing 
the trustees’ report and from the requirement to prepare a strategic report. 

 
Responsibilities of trustees  
 
As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities statement, set out on page 10, the trustees (who 
are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for 
such internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the charitable company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the charitable 
company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK), we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.  
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the charitable company’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the trustees.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the charitable company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the charitable company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
 
Opinion on other matter as required by British Academy grant letter 
 
In our opinion, in all material aspects, the grant payments from the British Academy have been applied 
in accordance with, and for the purposes set out in, the Agreement. 
 
Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to the charitable company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to 
the charitable company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the charitable company and the charitable company’s members as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 
 
Elizabeth Irvine (Senior Statutory Auditor)        Dated …………………………..  
     
For and on behalf of WMT 

 
Chartered Accountants 
Statutory Auditor 

 
Verulam Point 
Station Way 
St Albans 
Hertfordshire 
AL1 5HE 
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7KH�WUXVWHHV�KDYH�DVVHVVHG�ZKHWKHU�WKH�XVH�RI�WKH�JRLQJ�FRQFHUQ�EDVLV�LV�DSSURSULDWH�DQG�KDYH�FRQVLGHUHG�SRVVLEOH�HYHQWV�RU�
FRQGLWLRQV�WKDW�PLJKW�FDVW�VLJQLILFDQW�GRXEW�RQ�WKH�DELOLW\�RI�WKH�FKDULW\�WR�FRQWLQXH�DV�D�JRLQJ�FRQFHUQ��7KH�WUXVWHHV�KDYH�PDGH�WKLV�
DVVHVVPHQW�IRU�D�SHULRG�RI�DW�OHDVW�RQH�\HDU�IURP�WKH�GDWH�RI�DSSURYDO�RI�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��,Q�SDUWLFXODU�WKH�WUXVWHHV�KDYH�
FRQVLGHUHG�WKH�FKDULW\¶V�IRUHFDVWV�DQG�SURMHFWLRQV�DQG�WKH�DQWLFLSDWHG�LPSDFW�RI�&RYLG�����7KH�EXGJHWHG�LQFRPH�DQG�H[SHQGLWXUH�
DUH�VXIILFLHQW��ZLWK�WKH�OHYHO�RI�UHVHUYHV��IRU�WKH�FKDULW\�WR�EH�DEOH�WR�FRQWLQXH�DV�D�JRLQJ�FRQFHUQ�

*UDQW�DQG�SXEOLFDWLRQV�LQFRPH�DUH�UHFRJQLVHG�ZLWKLQ�WKH�62)$�ZKHUH�WKH�RUJDQLVDWLRQ�LV�HQWLWOHG�WR�WKH�LQFRPH��LW�LV�FHUWDLQ�WKDW�
WKH�UHVRXUFH�ZLOO�EH�UHFHLYHG��DQG�WKH�UHVRXUFH�FDQ�EH�TXDQWLILHG�ZLWK�UHDVRQDEOH�DFFXUDF\�

:KHUH�HQWLWOHPHQW�WR�JUDQW�LQFRPH�UHTXLUHV�D�VSHFLILF�SHUIRUPDQFH�WR�EH�DFKLHYHG��L�H��SHUIRUPDQFH�UHODWHG�JUDQW��WKHQ�LQFRPLQJ�
UHVRXUFHV�DUH�UHFRJQLVHG�RQO\�WR�WKH�H[WHQW�WKDW�WKH�SHUIRUPDQFH�KDV�WDNHQ�SODFH��:KHUH�PRQLHV�DUH�UHFHLYHG�LQ�DGYDQFH�RI�
HQWLWOHPHQW�WKH\�DUH�GHIHUUHG�DQG�RQO\�UHFRJQLVHG�ZKHQ�WKH�DFWLYLW\�SURYLGLQJ�DQ�HQWLWOHPHQW�WR�WKLV�LQFRPH�KDV�WDNHQ�SODFH�
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<($5�(1'('����0$5&+�����

� $FFRXQWLQJ�SROLFLHV��FRQWLQXHG�

�I� )L[HG�DVVHWV

0RWRU�YHKLFOHV ����S�D��VWUDLJKW�OLQH�EDVLV

&RPSXWHU�DQG�RWKHU�HTXLSPHQW ����S�D��VWUDLJKW�OLQH�EDVLV

)XUQLWXUH��IL[WXUHV�DQG�ILWWLQJV ����S�D��VWUDLJKW�OLQH�EDVLV

�J� 3XEOLFDWLRQV

�K� 6WRFNV

�L� )RUHLJQ�FXUUHQFLHV

�M� �7D[DWLRQ

�N� 2SHUDWLQJ�OHDVHV

�,� )XQG�DFFRXQWLQJ

�P� 3HQVLRQV

�Q� +HULWDJH�$VVHWV

$VVHWV�ZLWK�D�FRVW�LQ�H[FHVV�RI��������DUH�FDSLWDOLVHG�DV�IL[HG�DVVHWV�

'HSUHFLDWLRQ�LV�FKDUJHG�DW�WKH�IROORZLQJ�UDWHV�

7KH�LQVWLWXWLRQ�SDUWLFLSDWHV�LQ�8QLYHUVLWLHV�6XSHUDQQXDWLRQ�6FKHPH��7KH�DVVHWV�RI�WKH�VFKHPH�DUH�KHOG�LQ�DVHSDUDWH�
WUXVWHH�DGPLQLVWHUHG�IXQG��%HFDXVH�RI�WKH�PXWXDO�QDWXUH�RI�WKH�VFKHPH��WKH�DVVHWV�DUH�QRW�DWWULEXWHG�WR�LQGLYLGXDO�
LQVWLWXWLRQV�DQG�D�VFKHPH�ZLGH�FRQWULEXWLRQ�UDWH�LV�VHW��7KH�LQVWLWXWLRQ�LV�WKHUHIRUH�H[SRVHG�WR�DFWXDULDO�ULVNV�
DVVRFLDWHG�ZLWK�RWKHU�LQVWLWXWLRQV¶�HPSOR\HHV�DQG�LV�XQDEOH�WR�LGHQWLI\�LWV�VKDUH�RI�WKH�XQGHUO\LQJ�DVVHWV�DQG�OLDELOLWLHV�
RI�WKH�VFKHPH�RQ�D�FRQVLVWHQW�DQG�UHDVRQDEOH�EDVLV��$V�UHTXLUHG�E\�6HFWLRQ����RI�)56�����³(PSOR\HH�EHQHILWV´��WKH�
LQVWLWXWLRQ�WKHUHIRUH�DFFRXQWV�IRU�WKH�VFKHPH�DV�LI�LW�ZHUH�D�GHILQHG�FRQWULEXWLRQ�VFKHPH��$V�D�UHVXOW��WKH�DPRXQW�
FKDUJHG�WR�WKH�SURILW�DQG�ORVV�DFFRXQW�UHSUHVHQWV�WKH�FRQWULEXWLRQV�SD\DEOH�WR�WKH�VFKHPH��6LQFH�WKH�LQVWLWXWLRQ�KDV�
HQWHUHG�LQWR�DQ�DJUHHPHQW��WKH�5HFRYHU\�3ODQ��WKDW�GHWHUPLQHV�KRZ�HDFK�HPSOR\HU�ZLWKLQ�WKH�VFKHPH�ZLOO�IXQG�WKH�
RYHUDOO�GHILFLW��WKH�LQVWLWXWLRQ�UHFRJQLVHV�D�OLDELOLW\�IRU�WKH�FRQWULEXWLRQV�SD\DEOH�WKDW�DULVH�IURP�WKH�DJUHHPHQW��WR�WKH�
H[WHQW�WKDW�WKH\�UHODWH�WR�WKH�GHILFLW��ZLWK�UHODWHG�H[SHQVHV�EHLQJ�UHFRJQLVHG�WKURXJK�WKH�SURILW�DQG�ORVV�DFFRXQW��

7KH�&%5/�OLEUDU\�LV�RI�KLVWRULFDO�DQG�VFLHQWLILF�LPSRUWDQFH�WR�WKH�REMHFWLYHV�RI�WKH�FKDULW\�DQG�LV�D�NH\�UHVRXUFH�IRU�LWV�
FRQWULEXWLRQ�WR�NQRZOHGJH�DQG�FXOWXUH��

5HVWULFWHG�IXQGV�FRPSULVH�XQH[SHQGHG�EDODQFHV�RI�GRQDWLRQV�DQG�JUDQWV�KHOG�RQ�WUXVW�WR�EH�DSSOLHG�IRU�VSHFLILF�
SXUSRVHV�

3XEOLFDWLRQ�FRVWV�DUH�FDUULHG�IRUZDUG�DQG�FKDUJHG�WR�WKH�6WDWHPHQW�RI�)LQDQFLDO�$FWLYLWLHV�LQ�WKH�\HDU�RI�SXEOLFDWLRQ�

6WRFNV�RI�SXEOLFDWLRQV�DUH�YDOXHG�DW�WKH�ORZHU�RI�FRVW�DQG�QHW�UHDOLVDEOH�YDOXH�

7KH�DFFRXQWV�RI�RYHUVHDV�EUDQFKHV�KDYH�EHHQ�WUDQVODWHG�DW�WKH�UDWH�RI�H[FKDQJH�UXOLQJ�DW�WKH�\HDU�HQG�

7KH�FRPSDQ\�LV�D�FKDULW\�ZLWKLQ�WKH�PHDQLQJ�RI�3DUD���6FKHGXOH���)LQDQFH�$FW�������$FFRUGLQJO\��WKH�FRPSDQ\�LV�
SRWHQWLDOO\�H[HPSW�IURP�WD[DWLRQ�LQ�UHVSHFW�RI�LQFRPH�ZLWKLQ�FDWHJRULHV�FRYHUHG�E\�&KDSWHU���RI�3DUW����RI�WKH�
&RUSRUDWLRQ�7D[�$FW�������WR�WKH�H[WHQW�WKDW�VXFK�LQFRPH�LV�DSSOLHG�H[FOXVLYHO\�IRU�FKDULWDEOH�SXUSRVHV��1R�WD[�
FKDUJH�DURVH�LQ�WKH�SHULRG�

5HQWDO�FRVWV�XQGHU�RSHUDWLQJ�OHDVHV�DUH�FKDUJHG�WR�WKH�6WDWHPHQW�RI�)LQDQFLDO�$FWLYLWLHV��DV�WKH�FKDUJHV�DUH�LQFXUUHG�
RYHU�WKH�OHDVH�SHULRG�

*HQHUDO�IXQGV�FRPSULVH�WKH�DFFXPXODWHG�XQUHVWULFWHG�IXQGV�ZKLFK�KDYH�QRW�EHHQ�GHVLJQDWHG�IRU�DQ\�VSHFLILF�
SXUSRVH��7KH\�DUH�DYDLODEOH�IRU�XVH�DW�WKH�GLVFUHWLRQ�RI�WKH�WUXVWHHV�LQ�IXUWKHUDQFH�RI�WKH�JHQHUDO�REMHFWLYHV�RI�WKH�
FKDULW\�

'HVLJQDWHG�IXQGV�UHSUHVHQW�DPRXQWV�VHW�DVLGH�E\�WKH�WUXVWHHV�IRU�VSHFLILF�SXUSRVHV�

)RUHLJQ�SHQVLRQV��/RFDO�HPSOR\HHV�RI�WKH�RYHUVHDV�LQVWLWXWHV�DUH�PHPEHUV�RI�UHOHYDQW�VWDWH�SHQVLRQ�VFKHPHV�ZKHUH�
UHTXLUHG�E\�ORFDO�ODZ��&%5/�SD\V�HPSOR\HU�FRQWULEXWLRQV�DV�UHTXLUHG�E\�WKRVH�VFKHPHV���$GGLWLRQDO�SURYLVLRQ�LV�PDGH�
IRU�XQIXQGHG�SHQVLRQ�DQG�WHUPLQDWLRQ�REOLJDWLRQV�LQ�UHVSHFW�RI�WKRVH�HPSOR\HHV�QRW�FRYHUHG�E\�UHOHYDQW�VWDWH�
SHQVLRQ�VFKHPHV��ZKHUH�UHTXLUHG�E\�ORFDO�ODZ�
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<($5�(1'('����0$5&+�����

� $FFRXQWLQJ�SROLFLHV��FRQWLQXHG�

������� � �������DFTXLVLWLRQV���������RQ�HTXLSPHQW�DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH���������LQVXUDQFH
������� �
������� �
������� �
������� �
������� �

�R� &ULWLFDO�DFFRXQWLQJ�HVWLPDWHV�DQG�DUHDV�RI�MXGJHPHQW

�S� 2WKHU�ILQDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV

L��&DVK�DQG�HTXLYDOHQWV

LL��'HEWRUV�DQG�FUHGLWRUV

� 1HW�LQFRPH ���� ����
� �

1HW�LQFRPH��LV�VWDWHG�DIWHU�FKDUJLQJ��

3D\PHQWV�XQGHU�OHDVHV�RYHUVHDV ������ ������
'HSUHFLDWLRQ ����� �����
$XGLWRU
V�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�
��FXUUHQW�\HDU ����� ������
��LQ�UHVSHFW�RI�SULRU�\HDU � �����
��LQ�UHVSHFW�RI�QRQ�DXGLW�VHUYLFHV ����� ������
)RUHLJQ�H[FKDQJH�GLIIHUHQFHV ����� �����

'HEWRUV�DQG�FUHGLWRUV�UHFHLYDEOH�RU�SD\DEOH�ZLWKLQ�RQH�\HDU�RI�WKH�UHSRUWLQJ�GDWH�DUH�FDUULHG�DW�WKHLU�WUDQVDFWLRQ�SULFH��'HEWRUV�DQG�
FUHGLWRUV�WKDW�DUH�UHFHLYDEOH�RU�SD\DEOH�LQ�PRUH�WKDQ�RQH�\HDU�DQG�QRW�VXEMHFW�WR�D�PDUNHW�UDWH�RI�LQWHUHVW�DUH�PHDVXUHG�DW�WKH�SUHVHQW�
YDOXH�RI�WKH�H[SHFWHG�IXWXUH�UHFHLSWV�RU�SD\PHQW�GLVFRXQWHG�DW�D�PDUNHW�UDWH�RI�LQWHUHVW�

7KHVH�ILJXUHV�DUH�LQFOXGHG�LQ�WKH�VWDWHPHQW�RI�ILQDQFLDO�DFWLYLWLHV��7KHVH�ILJXUHV�GR�QRW�LQFOXGH�GRQDWLRQV��DV�WKH�YDOXH�RI�GRQDWLRQV�FDQQRW�
HDVLO\�EH�UHOLDEO\�HVWDEOLVKHG��0RVW�DUH�GRQDWHG�E\�DXWKRUV��DQG�LQFOXGH�ZRUNV��VXFK�DV�WKHVHV��WKDW�FDQQRW�EH�YDOXHG��1R�ERRNV�
SXUFKDVHG�DUH�RYHU��������LQ�YDOXH�

7KH�OLEUDU\�KDV�QRW�EHHQ�FDSLWDOLVHG�LQ�SDVW�DFFRXQWLQJ�SHULRGV��,W�LV�GLIILFXOW�DQG�FRVWO\�WR�DWWULEXWH�D�FRVW��HVSHFLDOO\�ZLWK�UHJDUG�WR�WKH�PDS�
FROOHFWLRQ��WKH�FRQWLQXRXV�UXQV�RI�MRXUQDOV��DQG�WKH�UDUH�ERRNV��,Q�DGGLWLRQ��PDQ\�RI�WKH�ERRNV�DUH�3K'�DQG�0DVWHU
V�GLVVHUWDWLRQV��GRQDWHG�
E\�WKHLU�DXWKRUV��7KHVH�ZRUNV�KDYH�QR�FRPPHUFLDO�YDOXH��&RQYHQWLRQDO�YDOXDWLRQ�DSSURDFKHV�ZRXOG�QRW�UHIOHFW�WKH�YDOXH�RI�WKH�DVVHW�WR�
WKH�FKDULW\�ZKLFK�OLHV�LQ�WKH�QDWXUH�DQG�ORFDWLRQ�RI�WKH�WRWDO�FROOHFWLRQ�DQG�QRW�WKH�VXP�RI�LWV�LQGLYLGXDO�SDUWV��,Q�DGGLWLRQ�VLJQLILFDQW�FRVWV�
ZRXOG�EH�LQFXUUHG�LQ�DWWHPSWLQJ�WR�YDOXH�WKH�DVVHW�ZKLFK�ZRXOG�EH�H[FHVVLYHO\�RQHURXV�FRPSDUHG�ZLWK�WKH�DGGLWLRQDO�EHQHILW�WR�EH�GHULYHG�
E\�XVHUV�RI�WKHVH�DFFRXQWV�LQ�DVVHVVLQJ�WKH�WUXVWHHV
�VWHZDUGVKLS�RI�WKH�DVVHWV��

%RWK�EUDQFKHV�RI�WKH�OLEUDU\�LQ�$PPDQ�DQG�-HUXVDOHP�DUH�RSHQ�WR�WKH�SXEOLF�DQG�ORFDO�VWXGHQWV��7KH�KLVWRULF�UROH�RI�WKH�&%5/�OLEUDU\�LQ�
-HUXVDOHP��SUHGDWLQJ�PRGHUQ�SROLWLFDO�ERXQGDULHV��DOORZV�LW�WR�VHUYH�DV�RQH�RI�WKH�IHZ�QHXWUDO�PHHWLQJ�SODFHV�LQ�DQ�RWKHUZLVH�GLYLGHG�FLW\��
7KH�OLEUDU\�KDV�LWV�URRWV�LQ�WKH�HDUO\�WZHQWLHWK�FHQWXU\�DQG�LV�PDGH�XS�RI�JLIWV��H[FKDQJHV�DQG�DFTXLVLWLRQV��)ROORZLQJ�WKH�HVWDEOLVKPHQW�RI�
WKH�%ULWLVK�6FKRRO�RI�$UFKDHRORJ\�LQ�-HUXVDOHP�LQ�������WKH�OLEUDU\�ZDV�HVWDEOLVKHG�WR�KROG�WKH�3DOHVWLQH�([SORUDWLRQ�)XQG
V�-HUXVDOHP�
OLEUDU\�DQG�ZDV�HQKDQFHG�E\�WKH�JLIW�RI�3K\WKLDQ�$GDPV
��WKH�ILUVW�$VVLVWDQW�'LUHFWRU��ERRN�FROOHFWLRQ��$�ODUJH�SDUW�RI�WKH�OLEUDU\�KROGLQJV�
FRXOG�QRW�EH�UHSODFHG��DQG�QR�DFFXUDWH�YDOXH�FDQ�EH�HVWDEOLVKHG�E\�DQ\�PHDQV�VKRUW�RI�RIIHULQJ�LW�IRU�VDOH�

3DUW�WLPH�OLEUDULDQV��VXSSRUWHG�E\�RWKHU�&%5/�VWDII��FXUDWH�ERWK�EUDQFKHV�RI�WKH�OLEUDU\��7KH�OLEUDU\�FDWDORJXH�LV�KHOG�LQ�D�SURIHVVLRQDO�
OLEUDU\�VRIWZDUH�V\VWHP�SXEOLFO\�DYDLODEOH�RQOLQH�WKURXJK�WKH�&%5/�ZHEVLWH��7KH�FXUUHQW�QXPEHU�RI�HQWULHV�LQ�WKH�MRLQW�FDWDORJXH�LV��������
ERRNV�DQG�ERRNOHWV������MRXUQDO�DQG�RQOLQH�MRXUQDO�VHULHV�WLWOHV��������RII�SULQWV�DQG�����UDUH�ERRNV��7KH�LQFUHDVLQJ�DYDLODELOLW\�RI�GLJLWDO�
UHVRXUFHV��PHDQV�WKDW�WKH�YLUWXDO�OLEUDU\�WKDW�FDQ�EH�DFFHVVHG�WKURXJK�&%5/�LV�QRZ�D�PDMRU�UHVRXUFH��7KHUH�LV�D�ODUJH�PDS�FROOHFWLRQ�
�QHDUO\�������VKHHW�PDSV���LQFOXGLQJ�D�FROOHFWLRQ�RI�KLVWRULF�PDSV��7KH�OLEUDU\�EXGJHW�LQFOXGHV�IXQGV�IRU�VXFK�LWHPV�DV�ELQGLQJ�RU�FRYHULQJ�
ERRNV�WR�SUHVHUYH�WKHP��1HZ�SDSHU�DQG�VRIWEDFN�ERRNV�DUH�SODFHG�LQ�SODVWLF�FRYHUV��/LEUDU\�FROOHFWLRQ�SROLF\�LV�UHJXODUO\�UHYLHZHG�DQG�
XSGDWHG��$GGLWLRQV�WR�WKH�OLEUDU\�DUH�DFTXLUHG�WKURXJK�SXUFKDVH��H[FKDQJHV�ZLWK�&%5/�SXEOLFDWLRQV��DQG�GRQDWLRQV�

��������DFTXLVLWLRQV���������HTXLSPHQW�DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH���������LQVXUDQFH�
��������DFTXLVLWLRQV���������HTXLSPHQW�DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH�������LQVXUDQFH�

,Q�WKH�YLHZ�RI�WKH�WUXVWHHV�LQ�DSSO\LQJ�WKH�DFFRXQWLQJ�SROLFLHV�DGRSWHG��QR�MXGJHPHQWV�ZHUH�UHTXLUHG�WKDW�KDYH�D�VLJQLILFDQW�HIIHFW�RQ�WKH�
DPRXQWV�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�QRU�GR�DQ\�HVWLPDWHV�RU�DVVXPSWLRQV�PDGH�FDUU\�D�VLJQLILFDQW�ULVN�RI�PDWHULDO�DGMXVWPHQW�
LQ�WKH�QH[W�ILQDQFLDO�\HDU�H[FHSW�IRU�WKH�SURYLVLRQ�UHODWLQJ�WR�8.�DQG�RYHUVHDV�SHQVLRQ�OLDELOLWLHV�

&DVK�DQG�FDVK�HTXLYDOHQWV�LQFOXGH�FDVK�DW�EDQNV�DQG�LQ�KDQG�DQG�VKRUW�WHUP�GHSRVLWV�ZLWK�D�PDWXULW\�GDWH�RI�WKUHH�PRQWKV�RU�OHVV�

��������DFTXLVLWLRQV���������QHW�UHIXQG�RQ�HTXLSPHQW�DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH���������
�������DFTXLVLWLRQV�������RQ�HTXLSPHQW�DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH�������LQVXUDQFH
�������DFTXLVLWLRQV�������RQ�HTXLSPHQW�DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH���������LQVXUDQFH
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<($5�(1'('����0$5&+�����

� ([SHQGLWXUH

D� $QDO\VLV�RI�WRWDO�H[SHQGLWXUH

$FWLYLWLHV�
XQGHUWDNHQ�

GLUHFWO\�����������
�

�1RWH����H���
*UDQW�

IXQGLQJ�RI�
DFWLYLWLHV�����

�

�1RWH���E���
6XSSRUW�

FRVWV�������������
�

7RWDO�
������������������������������

�

([SHQGLWXUH�RQ�UDLVLQJ�IXQGV
*UDQW�LQ�DLG�DQG�IXQGUDLVLQJ ������� � ������ �������
0HPEHUVKLS�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ ����� � � �����

&KDULWDEOH�DFWLYLWLHV
5HVHDUFK ������� ������ ������� �������
3XEOLFDWLRQV ������ � ������ ������
/LEUDU\ ������ � ������ �������
(YHQWV�DQG�FRQIHUHQFHV ������ � ������ ������

7RWDO�UHVRXUFHV�H[SHQGHG ������� ������ ������� �������

E� $QDO\VLV�RI�VXSSRUW�FRVWV

5HVHDUFK 3XEOLFDWLRQV /LEUDU\ (YHQWV�
DQG�

FRQIHUHQFHV

5DLVLQJ�
)XQGV

7RWDO�
����

� � � � � �
0DQDJHPHQW�DQG�ILQDQFH ������� ����� ������ ����� ����� �������
&RPPXQLFDWLRQV�DQG�,7 ����� ��� ����� ��� ����� ������
3UHPLVHV ������� � ������ � � �������
(TXLSPHQW ����� � � � � �����
'HSUHFLDWLRQ ����� � � � � �����
*RYHUQDQFH ����� ��� ��� ����� ����� ������

������� ������ ������ ������ ������ �������

F� $QDO\VLV�RI�WRWDO������UHVRXUFHV�H[SHQGHG�
$FWLYLWLHV�

XQGHUWDNHQ�
GLUHFWO\�

*UDQW�
IXQGLQJ�RI�
DFWLYLWLHV

�6XSSRUW�FRVWV 7RWDO�
����

([SHQGLWXUH�RQ�UDLVLQJ�IXQGV
*UDQW�LQ�DLG�DQG�IXQGUDLVLQJ ������ � ������ �������
0HPEHUVKLS�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ ����� � � �����

&KDULWDEOH�DFWLYLWLHV
5HVHDUFK ������� ������ ������� �������
3XEOLFDWLRQV ������ � ����� ������
/LEUDU\ ������ � ������ ������
(YHQWV�DQG�FRQIHUHQFHV ������ � ����� ������

7RWDO�UHVRXUFHV�H[SHQGHG ������� ������ ������� �������

G� $QDO\VLV�RI������VXSSRUW�FRVWV

5HVHDUFK 3XEOLFDWLRQV /LEUDU\ (YHQWV�
DQG�

FRQIHUHQFHV

5DLVLQJ�
)XQGV

7RWDO�
����

� � � � � �
0DQDJHPHQW�DQG�ILQDQFH ������ ����� ������ ����� ����� �������
&RPPXQLFDWLRQV�DQG�,7 ������ ����� ����� ����� ����� ������
3UHPLVHV ������� � ������ � � �������
(TXLSPHQW ������ � � � � ������

'HSUHFLDWLRQ ����� � � � � �����
*RYHUQDQFH ������ ��� ��� ����� ����� ������

������� ����� ������ ����� ������ �������

H� $QDO\VLV�RI�JUDQW�IXQGLQJ�RI�DFWLYLWLHV

� 7UXVWHH�DQG�HPSOR\HH�LQIRUPDWLRQ

D� 7UXVWHH�LQIRUPDWLRQ

'XULQJ�WKH�\HDU���������������LQGLYLGXDOV�UHFHLYHG�JUDQWV�DQG�EXUVDULHV�WR�D�WRWDO�YDOXH�RI��������������������������

$W����0DUFK�������RQH�JUDQW�ZDV�DZDUGHG�UHODWLQJ�WR�WKH�\HDU���������WR�DQ�LQGLYLGXDO�ZLWK�D�WRWDO�YDOXH�RI��������

1R�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�ZDV�SDLG�WR�WKH�WUXVWHHV�DQG�QR�GRQDWLRQV�UHFHLYHG�IRU�WKH�\HDU�HQGHG����0DUFK��������������1LO���([SHQVHV�RI��������IRU�
WUDYHO�ZDV�SDLG�WR����WUXVWHHV�IRU�WKH�\HDU�HQGHG����0DUFK��������������������WR����WUXVWHHV����7KH�/HYDQW�-RXUQDO�LV�HGLWHG�E\�3URIHVVRU�
*UDKDP�3KLOLS��ZKR�LV�HPSOR\HG�E\�WKH�8QLYHUVLW\�RI�'XUKDP�DQG�LV�D�WUXVWHH�RI�WKH�&RXQFLO�IRU�%ULWLVK�5HVHDUFK�LQ�WKH�/HYDQW��7KH�MRXUQDO�
SXEOLFDWLRQ�LV�RXWVRXUFHG�WR�7D\ORU�DQG�)UDQFLV�3XEOLVKLQJ��ZKR�SD\�DQQXDO�UR\DOWLHV�WR�WKH�&RXQFLO�IRU�%ULWLVK�5HVHDUFK�LQ�WKH�/HYDQW��7D\ORU�
DQG�)UDQFLV�3XEOLVKLQJ�DOVR�SD\V�D�IHH�WR�WKH�8QLYHUVLW\�RI�'XUKDP�WRZDUGV�WKH�WLPH�UHODWLQJ�WR�HGLWRULDO�VHUYLFHV�SURYLGHG�E\�3URIHVVRU�
*UDKDP�3KLOOLS��ZKR�UHFHLYHV�KLV�QRUPDO�VDODU\�IURP�WKH�8QLYHUVLW\��7KHUHIRUH��3URIHVVRU�*UDKDP�3KLOOLS�GRHV�QRW�UHFHLYH�DQ\�SD\PHQWV�IURP�
7D\ORU�DQG�)UDQFLV�3XEOLVKLQJ�GLUHFWO\�DQG�LV�QRW�EHQHILWLQJ�IURP�WKH�DUUDQJHPHQW�DV�DQ�HGLWRU�RI�WKH�MRXUQDO�
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� 7UXVWHH�DQG�HPSOR\HH�LQIRUPDWLRQ�FRQW�

E� (PSOR\HH�LQIRUPDWLRQ ���� ����

(PSOR\HH�FRVWV�GXULQJ�WKH�\HDU� � �

6DODULHV ������� �������
6RFLDO�VHFXULW\ ������ �����
2YHUVHDV�(PSOR\PHQW�WD[ ������ ������
3HQVLRQ��LQFOXGLQJ�PRYHPHQW�LQ�SURYLVLRQ ������ �������
2WKHU�VWDII�FRVWV ������ ������

������� �������

F� 7RWDO�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�SDLG�WR�NH\�PDQDJHPHQW�SHUVRQQHO

� )L[HG�DVVHWV
&RPSXWHU��RIILFH�

DQG�RWKHU�
HTXLSPHQW

0RWRU�
YHKLFOHV

)XUQLWXUH��
IL[WXUHV�DQG�

ILWWLQJ

8.�2IILFH�
HTXLSPHQW

7RWDO

� � � � �
&RVW

$V�DW���$SULO����� ������ ������ ������ � �������

$GGLWLRQV ����������������������������� � ���������������������� ����� �����

'LVSRVDOV �������� �������� � � ��������

$V�DW����0DUFK����� ����� ������ ������ ����� ������

'HSUHFLDWLRQ

$V�DW���$SULO����� ������ ������ ������ � �������

&KDUJH�IRU�WKH�\HDU ��� ����� � ��� �����

'LVSRVDOV �������� �������� � � ��������

$V�DW����0DUFK����� ����� ������ ������ ��� ������

1HW�ERRN�YDOXH

$V�DW���$SULO����� ��� ����� � � �����

$V�DW����0DUFK����� � �� � ����� �����

� 'HEWRUV ���� ����
� �

2WKHU�GHEWRUV�	�DFFUXHG�LQFRPH ������ ������

3UHSD\PHQWV ������ ������

������� ������

$OO�GHEWRUV�DUH�ILQDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV�PHDVXUHG�DW�SUHVHQW�YDOXH

�D &UHGLWRUV��$PRXQWV�IDOOLQJ�GXH�ZLWKLQ�RQH�\HDU
���� ����

� �

2WKHU�FUHGLWRUV ������ �

$FFUXDOV ������ ������

'HIHUUHG�LQFRPH 1RWH��E ������ ������

������� ������

1R�HPSOR\HHV�UHFHLYHG�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�RI�PRUH�WKDQ���������GXULQJ�WKH�\HDU��������1R�HPSOR\HHV�UHFHLYHG�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�
RI�PRUH�WKDQ�����������$�WHUPLQDWLRQ�SD\PHQW�DPRXQWLQJ�WR������������������������LV�LQFOXGHG�LQ�WKH�HPSOR\HH�FRVWV�
GXULQJ�WKH�\HDU��

7KH�DYHUDJH�QXPEHU�RI�SHUVRQV�HPSOR\HG�IXOO�WLPH�GXULQJ�WKH�\HDU�ZDV��������������

7KH�WUXVWHHV�FRQVLGHU�WKH�ERDUG�RI�WUXVWHHV��WKH�RYHUVHDV�,QVWLWXWH�'LUHFWRUV�DQG�WKH�8.�([HFXWLYH�2IILFHU�DV�
FRPSULVLQJ�WKH�NH\�PDQDJHPHQW�SHUVRQQHO�RI�WKH�FKDULW\�LQ�FKDUJH�RI�GLUHFWLQJ�DQG�FRQWUROOLQJ�WKH�FKDULW\�DQG�
UXQQLQJ�WKH�FKDULW\�RQ�D�GD\�WR�GD\�EDVLV��7RWDO�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�SDLG�WR�WKHVH�LQGLYLGXDOV�DPRXQWHG�WR����������
�������������������$OO�WUXVWHHV�JLYH�RI�WKHLU�WLPH�IUHHO\�DQG�QR�WUXVWHH�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�ZDV�SDLG�LQ�WKH�\HDU��'HWDLOV�
RI�WUXVWHH�H[SHQVHV�DQG�UHODWHG�SDUW\�WUDQVDFWLRQV�DUH�GLVFORVHG�LQ�QRWH��D�DQG�QRWH����WR�WKH�DFFRXQWV��
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�E 'HIHUUHG�,QFRPH
���� ����

� �

%URXJKW�IRUZDUG���������������������������������� ������ ������

5HOHDVHG�WR�LQFRPH�LQ�\HDU�������� �������� ��������

'HIHUUHG�LQ�\HDU��������������������������������� ������ ������
&DUULHG�IRUZDUG����������������������������������� ������ ������

$OO�FUHGLWRUV��H[FOXGLQJ�DFFUXDOV��WD[�DQG�VRFLDO�VHFXULW\�DUH�ILQDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV�PHDVXUHG�DW�SUHVHQW�YDOXH�

� 3URYLVLRQV 5HVWDWHG

���� ����
� �

866�SHQVLRQ�VFKHPH�GHILFLW�SURYLVLRQ ������ ������

2YHUVHDV�SHQVLRQ�SURYLVLRQV ������ ������

������ �������

6HH�QRWH����IRU�IXUWKHU�LQIRUPDWLRQ

� )XQG�PRYHPHQWV

%DODQFH
���0DUFK

����

,QFRPLQJ
UHVRXUFHV

5HVRXUFHV
H[SHQGHG

7UDQVIHU
RI�IXQGV

%DODQFH��
���0DUFK

����

� � � � �

5HVWULFWHG�IXQGV

%ULWLVK�$FDGDP\�%,5,�*UDQW � ������� ������� � ������

-HUXVDOHP�([FDYDWLRQ�3XEOLFDWLRQV ������ � � � ������

$QFLHQW�-HUXVDOHP�3URMHFW ������ � � � ������

%ULWLVK�$FDGHP\�,QFHQWLYLVDWLRQ�*UDQW ����� � ��� � �����

%ULWLVK�$FDGHP\�$GYDQFHG�/DQJXDJH�7UDLQLQJ ������ � � � ������

%ULWLVK�$FDGHP\�6WUDWHJLF�'HYHORSPHQW�)XQG ����� � ����� � �����

%\]DQWLQH�WR�0DPOXN�VHWWOHPHQW�SURMHFW ������ ������ ������ � ������

,NWDQX�SXEOLFDWLRQ�SURMHFW ����� ����� ����� � �����

7UDYHO�JUDQW�IXQG ����� � � � �����

.HQ\RQ�,QVWLWXWH�/LEUDU\�)XQG ��� � � � ���

.HQ\RQ�,QVWLWXWH�/LEUDULDQ�*UDQW ����� ������ ������ � �

%XVLQHVV�'HYHORSPHQW�)XQG ������ ������� ������� � �������

'LVVHUWDWLRQ�SUL]H�VFKHPH�GRQDWLRQ ����� � ��� � ���

&XOWXUDO�3URWHFWLRQ�)XQG��&XOWXUDO�&RUULGRUV�RI�3HDFH � ������ ������ � �

0DSSLQJ�'LJLWDO�+HULWDJH�LQ�-RUGDQ � ������ ������ � ������

2XU�3DVW��2XU�)XWXUH�DOO�WRJHWKHU�LQ�)D\QDQ � ������ ������ � �����

3HRSOH�DQG�%LUGV � ����� ����� � �

1DKUHLQ�1HWZRUN�3URMHFW � ����� � � �����

7RWDO�UHVWULFWHG�IXQGV ������� ������� ������� � �������

�
'HVLJQDWHG�IXQGV

$QFLHQW�-HUXVDOHP�SXEOLFDWLRQ�VDOHV ����� � � � �����

)XQGUDLVLQJ ����� � � � �����

&HQWHQDU\�)XQG ����� � � � �����

:HEVLWH�LPSURYHPHQWV ��� � � � ���

%ULWLVK�,QVWLWXWH�UHQHZDOV�DQG�UHSDLUV�SURJUDPPH ����� � � � �����

.HQ\RQ�,QVWLWXWH�IXQG�UDLVLQJ�VXSSRUW ����� � � � �����

(GLWRU�FRQWULEXWLRQ ����� � � � �����

7RWDO�GHVLJQDWHG�IXQGV ������ � � � ������

*HQHUDO�IXQGV ������� ������� ������ � �������

������� ������� ������� � �������

,Q���������WKH�GHIHUUHG�LQFRPH�FRPSULVHV�WKH�SD\PHQWV�PDGH�LQ������WKDW�FRYHU�WKH�SHULRG�$SULO������WR�$SULO�
�����LQ�UHVSHFW�RI�WKH�'DXSKLQ�3URMHFW������������PHPEHUVKLS�VXEVFULSWLRQV�����������DQG�SXEOLFDWLRQ�
VXEYHQWLRQV����������

��

DocuSign Envelope ID: F2C9E778-5C38-4DC6-84F2-9C594BE79F34



&281&,/�)25�%5,7,6+�5(6($5&+�,1�7+(�/(9$17
127(6�72�7+(�),1$1&,$/�67$7(0(176

<($5�(1'('����0$5&+�����

)XQG�PRYHPHQWV�FRQW�

%DODQFH
���0DUFK

����

,QFRPLQJ
UHVRXUFHV

5HVRXUFHV
H[SHQGHG

7UDQVIHU
RI�IXQGV

%DODQFH
���0DUFK

����

� � � � �

5HVWULFWHG�IXQGV

%ULWLVK�$FDGHP\�%,5,�*UDQW � ������� ������� � �

-HUXVDOHP�([FDYDWLRQ�3XEOLFDWLRQV ������ � � � ������

$QFLHQW�-HUXVDOHP�3URMHFW ������ � ��� � ������

%ULWLVK�$FDGHP\�,QFHQWLYLVDWLRQ�*UDQW ����� � ����� � �����

%ULWLVK�$FDGHP\�$GYDQFHG�/DQJXDJH�7UDLQLQJ ������ � � � ������

%ULWLVK�$FDGHP\�6WUDWHJLF�'HYHORSPHQW�)XQG ������ � ����� � �����

%\]DQWLQH�WR�0DPOXN�VHWWOHPHQW�SURMHFW ������ ������ ������ � ������

4DVLG�,QVWLWXWH�WXLWLRQ � ����� ����� � �

,NWDQX�SXEOLFDWLRQ�SURMHFW ����� � ����� � �����

7UDYHO�JUDQW�IXQG ����� ����� ����� � �����

.HQ\RQ�,QVWLWXWH�/LEUDU\�)XQG ��� ��� � � ���

.HQ\RQ�,QVWLWXWH�/LEUDULDQ�*UDQW ��� ������ ������ � �����

%XVLQHVV�'HYHORSPHQW�)XQG ������ ������� ������ � ������

'LVVHUWDWLRQ�3UL]H�6FKHPH�'RQDWLRQ � ����� � � �����

7RWDO�UHVWULFWHG�IXQGV ������� ������� ������� � �������

'HVLJQDWHG�IXQGV

$QFLHQW�-HUXVDOHP�SXEOLFDWLRQ�VDOHV ����� ��� � � �����

)XQGUDLVLQJ ����� � � �����

&HQWHQDU\�)XQG ����� � � � �����

:HEVLWH�LPSURYHPHQWV ��� � � � ���

%ULWLVK�,QVWLWXWH�UHQHZDOV�DQG�UHSDLUV�SURJUDPPH ����� � � � �����

.HQ\RQ�,QVWLWXWH�IXQG�UDLVLQJ�VXSSRUW ����� � � � �����

(GLWRU�&RQWULEXWLRQ � ����� � � �����

7RWDO�GHVLJQDWHG�IXQGV ������ ����� � � ������

*HQHUDO�IXQGV ������� ������� ������� � �������

������� ������� ������� � �������

5HVWULFWHG�IXQGV�

ā

ā

ā

ā

ā

ā 7KH�$XJXVWXV�)RXQGDWLRQ�%\]DQWLQH�WR�0DPOXN�SURMHFW�UHSUHVHQWV�IXQGV�DZDUGHG�WR�WKH�C)DOODKLQ� DQG�1RPDGV�LQ�WKH�6RXWKHUQ�
/HYDQW��3RSXODWLRQ�'\QDPLFV�DQG�$UWLVWLF�([SUHVVLRQ
�SURMHFW�

7KH�%ULWLVK�$FDGHP\�$GYDQFHG�/DQJXDJH�7UDLQLQJ�UHSUHVHQWV�IXQGV�DZDUGHG�IURP�WKH�%ULWLVK�$FDGHP\�/DQJXDJH�DQG�4XDQWLWDWLYH�
6NLOOV�3URJUDPPH��7KH�JUDQW�ZDV�DZDUGHG�IRU�$GYDQFHG�/DQJXDJH�3URYLVLRQ�LQ�$UDELF�IRU�SRVW�GRFWRUDO�UHVHDUFKHUV�

7KH�%ULWLVK�$FDGHP\�6WUDWHJLF�'HYHORSPHQW�)XQG�UHSUHVHQWV�IXQGV�DZDUGHG�WR�UHVHDUFK�SURMHFWV�WR�HQFRXUDJH�,QVWLWXWHV�WR�EURDGHQ�
WKHLU�UHVHDUFK�DQG�IXQGLQJ�EDVH�

��������ILJXUHV�IRU�FRPSDULVRQ

ā 7KH�%ULWLVK�$FDGHP\�,QFHQWLYLVDWLRQ�*UDQW�UHSUHVHQWV�IXQGV�DZDUGHG�WR�LQFUHDVH�LQVWLWXWHV�GLVFLSOLQDU\�DQG�IXQGLQJ�EDVH�EUHDGWK��
7KH�JUDQW�ZDV�DZDUGHG�WR�
PDS
�6RFLDO�6FLHQFH�5HVHDUFK�LQ�6\ULD��'XH�WR�WKH�GHWHULRUDWLQJ�VLWXDWLRQ�LQ�6\ULD��WKH�IRFXV�RI�WKH�SURMHFW�
VXEVHTXHQWO\�VKLIWHG�WR�-RUGDQ�DQG�WKH�EURDGHU�/HYDQW���

-HUXVDOHP�([FDYDWLRQ�3XEOLFDWLRQ�IXQGV�DUH�WR�EH�XVHG�VROHO\�IRU�WKH�SXEOLFDWLRQ�RI�WKH�$QFLHQW�-HUXVDOHP�SURMHFW��XQWLO�SXEOLFDWLRQ�RI�
WKH�ODVW�YROXPH�LQ�WKH�VHULHV��7KLV�IXQG�LV�FRQWLQXLQJ�WR�UHFHLYH�LQFRPH�IURP�WKH�LQWHUHVW�RQ�IXQGV�KHOG�

7KH�$QFLHQW�-HUXVDOHP�3URMHFW�LV�IXQGHG�E\�WKH�/HYHUKXOPH�7UXVW�DQG�,QVWLWXWH�RI�$HJHDQ�3UHKLVWRU\��7KH�IXQGV�DUH�WR�EULQJ�WR�
SXEOLFDWLRQ�UHPDLQLQJ�PDWHULDO�IURP�WKH�DUFKDHRORJLFDO�H[FDYDWLRQV�GLUHFWHG�E\�'DPH�.DWKOHHQ�.HQ\RQ�LQ�-HUXVDOHP��7KLV�IXQG�LV�
FRQWLQXLQJ�WR�UHFHLYH�LQFRPH�IURP�WKH�LQWHUHVW�RQ�IXQGV�KHOG�

5HVWDWHG

7KH�%ULWLVK�$FDGHP\�%,5,�JUDQW�LV�PRQH\�JUDQWHG�E\�WKH�%ULWLVK�$FDGHP\�WR�VSHFLILFDOO\�VXSSRUW�UHVHDUFK��OLEUDU\�
FROOHFWLRQV�DQG�FRQVHUYDWLRQ��FRPPXQLFDWLRQV�DQG�RXWUHDFK��FRUH�HVWDEOLVKPHQW�FRVWV��,W�LQFOXGHV�DPRXQWV�IURP�WKH�
SULPDU\�DQG�FRQWLQJHQF\�JUDQWV�

��
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� )XQG�PRYHPHQWV��FRQWLQXHG�

ā

ā 7KH�,NWDQX�SXEOLFDWLRQ�SURMHFW�IXQG�UHSUHVHQW�IXQGV�UHFHLYHG�E\�'U�.D\�3UDJ�WR�EULQJ�WKH�7HOO�,NWDQX�3URMHFW�WR�SXEOLFDWLRQ�

ā

ā

ā

ā

ā

ā

ā

ā

ā

ā

'HVLJQDWHG�IXQGV�UHSUHVHQW�IXQGV�VHW�DVLGH�IRU�VSHFLILF�SXUSRVHV�E\�WKH�&RXQFLO�

ā

ā

ā

ā

ā

ā

ā

�� $QDO\VLV�RI�DVVHWV�EHWZHHQ�IXQGV

7KH�QHW�DVVHWV�DUH�KHOG�IRU�WKH�YDULRXV�IXQGV�DV�IROORZV�

5HVWULFWHG 8QUHVWULFWHG 7RWDO

���� ���� ����

� � �

7DQJLEOH�IL[HG�DVVHWV � ����� �����

&DVK�DW�EDQN�DQG�LQ�KDQG ������� ������� �������

2WKHU�QHW�FXUUHQW�DVVHWV��OLDELOLWLHV� � �������� ��������

3URYLVLRQV � �������� ��������

������� ������� �������

��������ILJXUHV�IRU�FRPSDULVRQ 5HVWULFWHG 8QUHVWULFWHG 7RWDO

���� ���� ����

� � �

7DQJLEOH�IL[HG�DVVHWV � ����� �����

&DVK�DW�EDQN�DQG�LQ�KDQG ������� ������� �������

2WKHU�QHW�FXUUHQW�DVVHWV��OLDELOLWLHV� � �������� ��������

3URYLVLRQV � ��������� ���������

������� ������� �������

7KH�(GLWRU�FRQWULEXWLRQ�LV�DQ�DOORFDWHG�VWLSHQG�WR�VXSSRUW�WKH�ZRUN�RI�WKH�(GLWRU�RI�&RQWHPSRUDU\�/HYDQW��

.HQ\RQ�,QVWLWXWH�IXQGUDLVLQJ�VXSSRUW�KDV�EHHQ�DOORFDWHG�WR�IXQG�RQJRLQJ�IXQGUDLVLQJ�DFWLYLWLHV�DW�WKH�,QVWLWXWH��

7KH�%XVLQHVV�'HYHORSPHQW�)XQG�UHSUHVHQWV�JUDQW�LQ�DLG�UHFHLYHG�IURP�WKH�%ULWLVK�$FDGHP\�IRU�WKH�SXUSRVHV�RI�VXSSRUWLQJ�
IXQGUDLVLQJ��VHHNLQJ�IXUWKHU�VRXUFHV�RI�UHVHDUFK�IXQGLQJ��PD[LPLVLQJ�WKH�FRPPHUFLDO�DVSHFWV�RI�RSHUDWLRQV��DQG�IXQGLQJ�FRVW�
VDYLQJV�DQG�HIILFLHQFLHV���&%5/�ELGV�DQQXDOO\�IRU�WKLV�JUDQW�

$QFLHQW�-HUXVDOHP�SXEOLFDWLRQ�VDOHV�IXQGV�DUH�WR�EH�XVHG�WR�EULQJ�WR�SXEOLFDWLRQ�UHPDLQLQJ�PDWHULDO�IURP�WKH�DUFKDHRORJLFDO�
H[FDYDWLRQV�GLUHFWHG�E\�'DPH�.DWKOHHQ�.HQ\RQ�LQ�-HUXVDOHP��7KHVH�IXQGV�UHSUHVHQW�WKH�DPRXQW�UHFHLYHG�LQ�WKH�\HDU�IURP�VDOHV�RI�
SUHYLRXV�SXEOLFDWLRQV�ILQDQFHG�E\�WKH�$QFLHQW�-HUXVDOHP�3URMHFW�

7KH�)XQGUDLVLQJ�IXQG�UHSUHVHQWV�IXQGV�ZKLFK�KDYH�EHHQ�DOORFDWHG�WR�IXQGUDLVLQJ�DFWLYLWLHV�LQ���������

%,$�UHQHZDOV�DQG�UHSDLUV�SURJUDPPH�IXQGV�KDYH�EHHQ�DOORFDWHG�IRU�HVVHQWLDO�PDLQWHQDQFH�ZRUNV�UHTXLUHG�DW�WKH�,QVWLWXWH
V�
SUHPLVHV�LQ�$PPDQ�

:HEVLWH�LPSURYHPHQW�SURJUDPPH���

4DVLG�,QVWLWXWH�WXLWLRQ�IXQGV�UHSUHVHQW�FROODERUDWLRQ�EHWZHHQ�WKH�%ULWLVK�,QVWLWXWH�LQ�$PPDQ�DQG�WKH�4DVLG�,QVWLWXWH�LQ�$PPDQ��$V�
SDUW�RI�WKLV�FROODERUDWLRQ�WKH�4DVLG�,QVWLWXWH�SURYLGHV�IUHH�$UDELF�WXLWLRQ�SODFHV�WR�VFKRODUV�

7KH�.HQ\RQ�,QVWLWXWH�OLEUDU\�IXQG�FRQVLVWV�RI�GRQDWLRQV�IURP�6W�-RKQ
V�&ROOHJH��2[IRUG�WR�IXQG�ERRN�SXUFKDVHV�IRU�WKH�.HQ\RQ�
,QVWLWXWH�OLEUDU\��7KLV�IXQG�LV�FRQWLQXLQJ�WR�UHFHLYH�GRQDWLRQV�

7KH�7UDYHO�*UDQW�)XQG�UHSUHVHQWV�GRQDWLRQV�IURP�&%5/�PHPEHUV�WR�IXQG�WKH�7UDYHO�*UDQWV�SURJUDPPH�

7KH�.HQ\RQ�,QVWLWXWH�/LEUDULDQ�*UDQW�UHSUHVHQWV�IXQGV�SURYLGHG�E\�WKH�$O�7DMLU�DQG�%DUDNDW�7UXVWV�WR�HPSOR\�D�ORFDO�OLEUDULDQ�DW�WKH�
,QVWLWXWH�

&HQWHQDU\�)XQG�UHSUHVHQWV�IXQGV�DOORFDWHG�WRZDUGV�D�VHULHV�RI�HYHQWV�DQG�SURMHFWV�WR�FRPPHPRUDWH�WKH�HVWDEOLVKPHQW�RI�WKH�
%ULWLVK�6FKRRO�RI�$UFKDHRORJ\�LQ�-HUXVDOHP�LQ������

7KH�'LVVHUWDWLRQ�3UL]H�6FKHPH�IXQG�KDV�NLQGO\�EHHQ�GRQDWHG�E\�IRUPHU�WUXVWHH��3URIHVVRU�5RVHPDU\�+ROOLV��WR�IXQG�WKH�0DVWHUV�
DQG�8QGHUJUDGXDWH�'LVVHUWDWLRQ�3UL]HV�LQ������

7KH�&XOWXUDO�3URWHFWLRQ�)XQG��&XOWXUDO�&RUULGRUV�RI�3HDFH�UHSUHVHQWV�IXQGV�SURYLGHG�WR�RUJDQLVH�D�5HJLRQDO�%HGRXLQ�*DWKHULQJ�LQ�
-RUGDQ�DQG�WR�SURPRWH�WKH�OLYLQJ�PHPRU\�RI�%HGRXLQ�IURP�WKH�/HYDQW�ZLWK�WKH�,QKHULW�,QVWLWXWH�RI�<RUN�$UFKDHRORJLFDO�7UXVW��WKH�
$PHULFDQ�8QLYHUVLW\�RI�%HLUXW�DQG�&RYHQWU\�8QLYHUVLW\�

0DSSLQJ�'LJLWDO�+HULWDJH�LQ�-RUGDQ�LV�D�UHVHDUFK�SURMHFW�WR�KDUQHVV�GLJLWDO�WHFKQRORJLHV�LQ�WKH�PDQDJHPHQW�DQG�SURWHFWLRQ�RI�
FXOWXUDO�KHULWDJH�ZLWK�.LQJ¶V�&ROOHJH�/RQGRQ�DQG�WKH�+DVKHPLWH�8QLYHUVLW\

2XU�3DVW��2XU�)XWXUH�DOO�WRJHWKHU�LQ�)D\QDQ�LV�D�UHVHDUFK�SURMHFW�WR�GHYHORS�)D\QDQ�0XVHXP�LQ�VRXWKHUQ�-RUGDQ�DQG�SURPRWH�LW�DV�
D�FRPPXQLW\�KXE�ZLWK�WKH�8QLYHUVLW\�RI�5HDGLQJ

7KH�3HRSOH�DQG�%LUGV�IXQG�LV�PRQLHV�UHFHLYHG�WR�GLVSOD\�LWHPV�OLQNHG�WR�WKH�2XU�3DVW��2XU�)XWXUH�SURMHFW�IRU�)D\QDQ�0XVHXP�

7KH�1DKUHLQ�1HWZRUN�3URMHFW�IXQGV�DUH�WR�DOORZ�D�YLVLWLQJ�IHOORZVKLS�WR�WKH�8.�RQ�
0XVHXPV�LQ�%HLUXW��7RZDUGV�D�6XVWDLQDEOH�
$SSURDFK�WR�+HULWDJH
�
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<($5�(1'('����0$5&+�����

�� /HDVH�FRPPLWPHQWV

���� ����

� �

:LWKLQ�RQH�\HDU ������ ������

�� 5HODWHG�SDUW\�WUDQVDFWLRQV

�� 3HQVLRQ�FRPPLWPHQWV

3HQVLRQ�LQFUHDVHV��&3,�

'LVFRXQW�UDWH�

)XWXUH�LQSURYHPHQWV�WR�PRUWDOLW\

7KH�FXUUHQW�OLIH�H[SHFWDQFLHV�RQ�UHWLUHPHQW�DW�DJH����DUH� �����
YDOXDWLRQ

�����
YDOXDWLRQ

0DOHV�FXUUHQWO\�DJHG�����\HDUV� ���� ����
)HPDOHV�FXUUHQWO\�DJHG�����\HDUV� ���� ����
0DOHV�FXUUHQWO\�DJHG�����\HDUV� ���� ����
)HPDOHV�FXUUHQWO\�DJHG�����\HDUV� ���� ����

&0,B�����ZLWK�D�VPRRWKLQJ�SDUDPHWHU�RI�����DQG�D�ORQJ�WHUP�
LPSURYHPHQW�UDWH�RI������SD�IRU�PDOHV�DQG������SD�IRU�IHPDOHV

7KH�&RXQFLO�KDG�WKH�IROORZLQJ�DQQXDO�FRPPLWPHQWV�XQGHU�RSHUDWLQJ�OHDVHV�
IRU�WKH�ODQG�DQG�EXLOGLQJV�ZKLFK�H[SLUH�

2QH�WUXVWHH�RI�WKH�FKDULW\�UHFHLYHG�D�UHVHDUFK�JUDQW�IURP�WKH�FKDULW\�GXULQJ�WKH�\HDU��������RQH���7KH�
&KDULW\�&RPPLVVLRQ�KDV�JLYHQ�FRQVHQW�WKDW�JUDQWV�PD\�EH�DZDUGHG�WR�WUXVWHHV�SURYLGHG�WKDW��DW�QR�WLPH�
PRUH�WKDQ�RQH�WKLUG�RI�WKH�PHPEHUV�RI�WKH�&RPPLWWHH�EHQHILW��DW�QR�WLPH�VKDOO�WKH�DQQXDO�WRWDO�RI�JUDQWV�
PDGH�WR�PHPEHUV�RI�WKH�&RPPLWWHH�H[FHHG�PRUH�WKDQ�RQH�TXDUWHU�RI�WKH�DQQXDO�WRWDO�H[SHQGLWXUH��D�
PHPEHU�RI�WKH�&RPPLWWHH�VKDOO�ZLWKGUDZ�IURP�DQ\�PHHWLQJ�ZKLOVW�KLV�RU�KHU�DSSOLFDWLRQ�IRU�DQ�DZDUG�RI�
JUDQW�LV�EHLQJ�GLVFXVVHG��7KLV�FRQVHQW�JDYH�ULVH�WR�D�FKDQJH�LQ�WKH�FRQVWLWXWLRQ�DQG�DSSURYDO�ZDV�JDLQHG�
IRU�WKLV�FKDQJH�DW�DQ�(*0�

7KH�RUJDQLVDWLRQ�SDUWLFLSDWHV�LQ�WKH�8QLYHUVLWLHV�6XSHUDQQXDWLRQ�6FKHPH��866���D�GHILQHG�PXOWL�HPSOR\HU�
GHILQHG�EHQHILW�VFKHPH�ZKLFK�LV�FRQWUDFWHG�RXW�RI�WKH�6WDWH�6HFRQG�3HQVLRQ��6�3���866�LV�FXUUHQWO\�LQ�
GHILFLW�DQG�DW�WKH�\HDU�HQG�&%5/�DG�HQWHUH�LQWR�DQ�DJUHHPHQW�WR�SDUWLFLSDWH�LQ�D�UHFRYHU\�SODQ�WR�UHGXFH�
WKH�GHILFLW��

7KH�ODWHVW�DYDLODEOH�FRPSOHWH�DFWXDULDO�YDOXDWLRQ�RI�WKH�5HWLUHPHQW�,QFRPH�%XLOGHU�LV�DW����0DUFK�������WKH�
YDOXDWLRQ�GDWH���ZKLFK�ZDV�FDUULHG�RXW�XVLQJ�WKH�SURMHFWHG�XQLW�PHWKRG��$�YDOXDWLRQ�DV�DW����0DUFK������LV�
XQGHUZD\�EXW�QRW�\HW�FRPSOHWH��6LQFH�WKH�LQVWLWXWLRQ�FDQQRW�LGHQWLI\�LWV�VKDUH�RI�866�5HWLUHPHQW�,QFRPH�
%XLOGHU��GHILQHG�EHQHILW��DVVHWV�DQG�OLDELOLWLHV��WKH�IROORZLQJ�GLVFORVXUHV�UHIOHFW�WKRVH�UHOHYDQW�IRU�WKRVH�
DVVHWV�DQG�OLDELOLWLHV�DV�D�ZKROH��7KH������YDOXDWLRQ�ZDV�WKH�ILIWK�YDOXDWLRQ�IRU�WKH�VFKHPH�XQGHU�WKH�
VFKHPH�VSHFLILF�IXQGLQJ�UHJLPH�LQWURGXFHG�E\�WKH�3HQVLRQV�$FW�������ZKLFK�UHTXLUHV�VFKHPHV�WR�DGRSW�D�
VWDWXWRU\�IXQGLQJ�REMHFWLYH��ZKLFK�LV�WR�KDYH�VXIILFLHQW�DQG�DSSURSULDWH�DVVHWV�WR�FRYHU�WKHLU�WHFKQLFDO�
SURYLVLRQV��$W�WKH�YDOXDWLRQ�GDWH��WKH�YDOXH�RI�WKH�DVVHWV�RI�WKH�VFKHPH�ZDV�������ELOOLRQ�DQG�WKH�YDOXH�RI�
WKH�VFKHPH¶V�WHFKQLFDO�SURYLVLRQV�ZDV�������ELOOLRQ�LQGLFDWLQJ�D�VKRUWIDOO�RI������ELOOLRQ�DQG�D�IXQGLQJ�UDWLR�
RI�����

$�OLDELOLW\�RI�������������������������KDV�EHHQ�UHFRJQLVHG�ZLWK�D�UHGXFWLRQ�RI�SHQVLRQ�FRVWV�RI���������
���������������LQFUHDVH��DQG�DQ�LQWHUHVW�FKDUJH�RI������������������������&RQWULEXWLRQV�LQ�WKH�\HDU�
WRWDOOHG�������������������������

7KH�PDLQ�GHPRJUDSKLF�DVVXPSWLRQ�XVHG�UHODWHV�WR�WKH�PRUWDOLW\�DVVXPSWLRQV��7KHVH�DVVXPSWLRQV�
DUH�EDVHG�RQ�DQDO\VLV�RI�WKH�VFKHPH¶V�H[SHULHQFH�FDUULHG�RXW�DV�SDUW�RI�WKH������DFWXDULDO�
YDOXDWLRQ��7KH�PRUWDOLW\�DVVXPSWLRQV�XVHG�LQ�WKHVH�ILJXUHV�DUH�DV�IROORZV�

3UH�UHWLUHPHQW������RI�$0&22��GXUDWLRQ����IRU�PDOHV�DQG������RI�$)&22�
�GXUDWLRQ����IRU�IHPDOHV

3RVW�UHWLUHPHQW��������RI�6$36�6�10$��OLJKW��IRU�PDOHV�DQG��������RI�
5)922�IRU�IHPDOHV

0RUWDOLW\�
EDVH�WDEOH

7KH�NH\�ILQDQFLDO�DVVXPSWLRQV�XVHG�LQ�WKH������YDOXDWLRQ�DUH�GHVFULEHG�EHORZ��0RUH�GHWDLO�LV�VHW�RXW�LQ�WKH�
6WDWHPHQW�RI�)XQGLQJ�3ULQFLSOHV�

7HUP�GHSHQGHQW�UDWHV�LQ�OLQH�ZLWK�WKH�GLIIHUHQFH�EHWZHHQ�WKH�)L[HG�
,QWHUHVW�DQG�,QGH[�/LQNHG�\LHOG�FXUYHV��OHVV������S�D�

<HDUV�������&3,���������UHGXFLQJ�OLQHDUO\�WR�&3,�±������
<HDUV��������&3,���������UHGXFLQJ�OLQHDUO\�WR�&3,���������E\�\HDU���
<HDUV�������&3,��������
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<($5�(1'('����0$5&+�����

�� 3HQVLRQ�FRPPLWPHQWV��FRQWLQXHG�

���� ����
'LFRXQW�UDWH ����� �����
3HQVLRQDEO\�VDODU\�JURZWK 9DULRXV 9DULRXV

����

������

��������������
�����

������

�� 3ULRU�\HDU�DGMXVWPHQWV

D�

E�

WR�UHIOHFW�WKH�UHVWULFWHG�QDWXUH�RI�WKH�%ULWLVK�$FDGHP\�%,5,�JUDQW�SUHYLRXVO\�LQFOXGHG�LQ�XQUHVWULFWHG�
IXQGV��DQG�

WR�UHFODVVLI\�WKH�866�SURYLVLRQ�DQG�RYHUVHDV�SHQVLRQ�SURYLVLRQ�IURP�ORQJ�WHUP�FUHGLWRUV�WR�
SURYLVLRQV��

7KH�SULRU�\HDU�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�KDYH�EHHQ�UHVWDWHG�IRU�WKH�IROORZLQJ�PDWWHUV��7KH�LPSDFW�RI�WKHVH�
DGMXVWPHQWV�LV�GLVFORVXUH�LQ�QDWXUH�RQO\�DQG�KDV�QR�LPSDFW�RQ�UHVHUYHV�

$�QHZ�GHILFLW�UHFRYHU\�SODQ�ZDV�SXW�LQ�SODFH�DV�SDUW�RI�WKH������YDOXDWLRQ��ZKLFK�UHTXLUHV�SD\PHQW�RI�
���RI�VDODULHV�RYHU�WKH�SHULRG���2FWREHU������WR����6HSWHPEHU������DW�ZKLFK�SRLQW�WKH�UDWH�ZLOO�
LQFUHDVH�WR�����7KH������GHILFLW�UHFRYHU\�OLDELOLW\�UHIOHFWV�WKLV�SODQ��7KH�OLDELOLW\�ILJXUHV�KDYH�EHHQ�
SURGXFHG�XVLQJ�WKH�IROORZLQJ�DVVXPSWLRQV�

2YHUVHDV�SHQVLRQ�PRYHPHQW

$V�DW���$SULO�����

6HYHUDQFH�SD\
3HQVLRQ�FKDUJH�IRU�WKH�\HDU

��
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